2016

Mike's Smoke, Cigar & Gifts, Petitioner/ Appellant v. City of St. George, Respondent/ Appellee.

Utah Court of Appeals

Tab 1

Utah Code § 58-37-2(g)

(i) “Controlled substance analog” means:

(A) a substance the chemical structure of which is substantially similar to the chemical structure of a controlled substance listed in Schedules I and II of Section 58-37-4, a substance listed in Section 58-37-4.2, or in Schedules I and II of the federal Controlled Substances Act, Title II, P.L. 91-513;

(B) a substance which has a stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect on the central nervous system substantially similar to the stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect on the central nervous system of controlled substances listed in Schedules I and II of Section 58-37-4, substances listed in Section 58-37-4.2, or substances listed in Schedules I and II of the federal Controlled Substances Act, Title II, P.L. 91-513; or

(C) A substance which, with respect to a particular individual, is represented or intended to have a stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect on the central nervous system substantially similar to the stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect on the central nervous system of controlled substances listed in Schedules I and II of Section 58-37-4, substances listed in Section 58-37-4.2, or substances listed in Schedules I and II of the federal Controlled Substances Act, Title II, P.L. 91-513.

(ii) “Controlled substance analog” does not include:

(A) a controlled substance currently scheduled in Schedules I through V of Section 58-37-4;

(B) a substance for which there is an approved new drug application;

(C) a substance with respect to which an exemption is in effect for investigational use by a particular person under Section 505 of the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, 21 U.S.C. 355, to the extent the conduct with respect to the substance is permitted by the exemption;

(D) any substance to the extent not intended for human consumption before an exemption takes effect with respect to the substance;

(E) any drug intended for lawful use in the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of disease in man or other animals, which contains ephedrine, pseudoephedrine, norpseudoephedrine, or phenylpropanolamine if

the drug is lawfully purchased, sold, transferred, or furnished as an over-the-counter medication without prescription; or

(F) dietary supplements, vitamins, minerals, herbs, or other similar substances including concentrates or extracts, which are not otherwise regulated by law, which may contain naturally occurring amounts of chemical or substances listed in this chapter, or in rules adopted pursuant to Title 63G, Chapter 3, Utah Administrative Rulemaking Act.

Tab 2

21 U.S.C. § 802(32)

(A) Except as provided in subparagraph (C), the term "controlled substance analogue" means a substance--

(i) the chemical structure of which is substantially similar to the chemical structure of a controlled substance in schedule I or II;

(ii) which has a stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect on the central nervous system that is substantially similar to or greater than the stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect on the central nervous system of a controlled substance in schedule I or II; or

(iii) with respect to a particular person, which such person represents or intends to have a stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect on the central nervous system that is substantially similar to or greater than the stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect on the central nervous system of a controlled substance in schedule I or II.

(B) The designation of gamma butyrolactone or any other chemical as a listed chemical pursuant to paragraph (34) or (35) does not preclude a finding pursuant to subparagraph (A) of this paragraph that the chemical is a controlled substance analogue.

(C) Such term does not include--

(i) a controlled substance;

(ii) any substance for which there is an approved new drug application;

(iii) with respect to a particular person any substance, if an exemption is in effect for investigational use, for that person, under section 505 of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. 355) to the extent conduct with respect to such substance is pursuant to such exemption; or

(iv) any substance to the extent not intended for human consumption before such an exemption takes effect with respect to that substance.

Tab 3

SHAWN GUZMAN, # 7392
PAULA HOUSTON, # 5239
175 East 200 North
St. George, UT 84770
Telephone: (435) 627-4000
Facsimile: (435) 627-4260
shawn.guzman@sgcity.org
paula.houston@sgcity.org

IN THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING OF THE CITY OF ST. GEORGE
COUNTY OF WASHINGTON, STATE OF UTAH

IN THE MATTER OF

MIKE'S SMOKE, CIGAR & GIFTS
ADDRESS OF SUBJECT PROPERTY:
1973 W Sunset Boulevard
St. George, UT 84770

**FINDINGS OF FACT,
CONCLUSIONS AND ORDER**

The above-entitled matter came before the St. George City Council, the appeal board, on an appeal from an order of revocation for the business license for Mike's Smoke, Cigar & Gifts (Mike's Smoke Shop) which is located at 1973 W. Sunset Boulevard in St. George, Utah. The City of St. George (City) appeared by and through its attorney of record, Paula Houston, and Mike's Smoke Shop appeared by and through its attorney of record, Ryan Holdaway, on April 4, 2013 for the hearing. The City Council having heard and reviewed the proffered evidence of both parties and being otherwise fully advised enters the following findings and order:

FINDINGS OF FACT

The City Council makes the following findings of fact:

1. Mike's Smoke Shop is located at 1973 W. Sunset Boulevard in St. George, Utah. This business is licensed by the City to sell cigarettes, cigars, tobacco pipes, lighters, oil burners, incense, flavored tobacco, sports memorabilia, novelty items, perfume and calling cards. Christie Best and Michael Connors are the owners of the business. Kyle Best, the son of owner Christie Best, is the manager of the St. George location.
2. The City business license officer sent an order of revocation to the owners of Mike's Smoke Shop on January 28, 2013, revoking the business license and ordering the owners to stop conducting business in St. George. On February 1, 2013, the owners filed an appeal of the decision and requested a hearing on the revocation. The City allowed Mike's Smoke Shop to continue doing business during the appeal period.