Brigham Young University Law School
BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007–)

2016

Mn

Utah Court of Appeals

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

When it filed its petition for review, Mike's asserted both that the City Council's decision was not supported by substantial evidence in the record, and that the decision was illegal because the underlying statute was unconstitutional. (R. 1-8.) Yet, as this matter has progressed, Mike's has abandoned both, treating the case as more of an academic exercise in statutory interpretation as opposed to an appeal of a license revocation in which the City Council made uncontested findings. Within the appropriate framework, it seems that Mike's is appealing the legality of the City Council's decision.

B. The City Council's findings stand because Mike's has failed to properly challenge them.

Mike's has not only abandoned a substantial evidence challenge, it has also abandoned and waived any challenge to the City Council's factual findings. Instead, it merely drops a footnote in its brief conceding the facts related to "the possession and sale of Reborn," but professing "disagree[ment] with any statement of fact concluding Reborn contained a controlled substance or controlled substance analog or that Mike's knew or intended the product to be a controlled substances analog." (Br. 2 n.2.) That "disagreement" is wholly insufficient for Mike's to properly discharge its burden on appeal.

A party challenging fact findings has a duty to marshal the evidence and demonstrate that the findings are not supported by substantial evidence. See *Carlsen v.*

Board of Adjustment, 2012 UT App 260, ¶ 7, 287 P.3d 440 (reasoning that an appealing party cannot demonstrate lack of substantial evidence in the record by focusing on “selected facts that support his position and simply ignor[ing] contradictory facts that support the Board’s decision”). Mike’s has made no effort to meet this burden. Nor could it. It conceded below that the findings were not in dispute. (R. 322 & 509 - Hr’g Tr. 29:13-15, 30:1-10.)¹¹

By failing to challenge the findings at any level, and refusing to marshal the evidence in its opening brief, Mike’s has waived any substantial evidence challenge to the City Council’s decision. *See Pixton v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 809 P.2d 746, 751 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) (“Generally, where an appellant fails to brief an issue on appeal, the point is waived.”); *Carlsen*, 2012 UT App 260, ¶ 7 (“By failing to address the evidence that supports the Board’s decision, [appellant] has failed to marshal the evidence; by not marshaling the evidence, [appellant] has failed to bear his burden to show that the Board’s decision is not supported by substantial evidence.”).

In sum, the only question Mike’s has raised for the Court on appeal—albeit impliedly—is the claimed illegality of the City Council’s interpretation of the controlled substance analog definition. But in reviewing that question, the City Council’s interpretation, which was fully informed by its undisputed factual findings, is entitled to deference. *See Fox*, 2008 UT 85, ¶ 11.

¹¹ Mike’s asserted, “In the present case the parties are not disputing most of the factual determinations of the City.” (R. 322; Pet’r Br. at 6.) As it sole “dispute,” it criticized the City Council’s determination to side with the State Crime Lab over Mike’s generic and unsworn opinion letters. (*Id.*) It does not advance that argument on appeal.

II. The City's Statutory Interpretation was in all Respects Correct, Consistent with Legislative Intent, and Followed Established Rules of Statutory Construction.

Mike's presents what it calls a single question of statutory interpretation: Whether the definition of a controlled substance analog in Utah Code section 58-37-2(1)(g) should be read conjunctively or disjunctively. (Br. 1, 5.) It contends the Court must read the statute conjunctively in order to avoid "absurd results and valid constitutional challenges." (Br. 5.) To set up its analysis, Mike's spends the first nearly seven pages of its argument laying the Utah and federal drug analog definitions side-by-side and claiming that because they are similar and were intended to address the same evil, this Court must blindly follow various federal court interpretations of the federal statute when interpreting Utah's statute. (Br. 5-11.) That is not so.

Interpretation of a Utah statute does not begin with an analysis of federal law. It begins with the actual language of the Utah statute and an effort to determine the intent of the Utah Legislature. "It is well settled that when faced with a question of statutory interpretation, 'our primary goal is to evince the true intent and purpose of the Legislature.'" *Marion Energy, Inc. v. KFJ Ranch P'ship*, 2011 UT 50, ¶ 14, 267 P.3d 863 (quoting *Salt Lake County v. Holliday Water Co.*, 2010 UT 45, ¶ 27, 234 P.3d 1105). "'The best evidence of the legislature's intent is 'the plain language of the statute itself.'" *Id.* (quoting *State v. Miller*, 2008 UT 61, ¶ 18, 193 P.3d 92).

To that end, we assume "'that the legislature used each term advisedly according to its ordinary and usually accepted meaning.'" *Id.* (quoting *Hutter v. Dig-It, Inc.*, 2009 UT 69, ¶ 32, 219 P.3d 918). We also assume that the expression of one term means the

Legislature intended to exclude another term. *Id.* Moreover, courts must avoid any interpretation that renders any parts or words of a statute “inoperative or superfluous.”

State v. Morrison, 2001 UT 73, ¶ 11, 31 P.3d 547.

Here, the Legislature amended Utah Code section 58-37-2(1)(g)(i) to redefine controlled substance analogs. That amendment had a singular purpose: To combat the underground chemists driving Utahns to emergency rooms and worse, by manufacturing drug analogs that were a step ahead of statutory definitions. Under the amended statute,

“‘Controlled substance analog’ means:

(A) a substance the chemical structure of which is substantially similar to the chemical structure of a [listed] controlled substance ...;

(B) a substance which has a stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect on the central nervous system substantially similar to the stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect on the central nervous system of [listed] controlled substances ...; or

(C) A substance which, with respect to a particular individual, is represented or intended to have a stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect on the central nervous system substantially similar to the stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect on the central nervous system of [listed] controlled substances ...”

Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-2(1)(g)(i).

Use of the disjunctive “or” between enumerated subsections in a statute “clearly mandates” that only one of the subsections need be satisfied, not all. *Calhoun v. State Farm Auto. Ins. Co.*, 2004 UT 56, ¶ 20, 96 P.2d 916. The term “or” creates alternatives in a list as opposed to combining items in the list. See Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, *Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts* 116 (2012). That has long been the established meaning of the connector “or” under Utah’s rules of statutory interpretation: “The words being used in series, the only connective being the disjunctive ‘or,’ it applies

to the whole series. Therefore the ordinary and usual meaning of the language would be that the subject is deemed to give his consent to a test of some one of the designated substances, or of another, but not all of them.” *Ringwood v. State*, 333 P.2d 943, 944 (Utah 1959).

By its plain language, under section 58-37-2(1)(g)(i), a substance need only have one of three things to qualify as a controlled substance analog: (A) a substantially similar chemical structure as a listed controlled substance; (B) a substantially similar effect as a listed controlled substance; or (C) is represented as having such an effect. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-2(1)(g)(i).

The 2012 amendments reinforce this plain language interpretation. With those amendments, the Legislature moved the predicate showing in the opening clause (substantially similar chemical structure) to a subordinate subsection, equal to what was previously two subordinate subsections, and left the disjunctive “or” between them. *See* 2012 Utah Laws Chap. 297 (codified as Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-2(1)(g)(i) (LexisNexis 2012)). We cannot ignore these structural changes. *See, e.g., T-Mobile USA, Inc. v. Utah State Tax Comm’n*, 2011 UT 28, ¶ 27, 254 P.3d 752 (“As part of our plain language analysis, we place significance on the removal of a term from a piece of legislation.”).

By placing the colon directly after the introductory clause—“*Controlled substance analog’ means:*”—and using semi-colons to set off the list that follows, the Legislature had one thing in mind: create alternative stand-alones between the three subsections that follow. “Where the opening clause of a statutory section ends with a colon, the further use of semicolons to set off sub-sections suggests that the subsections

are closely related to the opening clause and that the sub-sections comprise the list of items of equal or similar importance.” 1A Sutherland Statutory Construction § 21:15 (7th ed. West 2012). A before and after look at the statute demonstrates the significance of the change in text and structure:

Pre-2012	2012 Amendment
<p>(1)(g)(i) “Controlled substance analog” means a substance the chemical structure of which is substantially similar to ...:</p> <p style="padding-left: 40px;">(A) which has a stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect ... substantially similar to ...; or</p> <p style="padding-left: 40px;">(B) which, with respect to a particular individual, is represented or intended ...</p>	<p>(1)(g)(i) “Controlled substance analog” means:</p> <p style="padding-left: 40px;">(A) a substance the chemical structure of which is substantially similar to ...</p> <p style="padding-left: 40px;">(B) a substance which has a ...; or</p> <p style="padding-left: 40px;">(C) A substance which, with respect to a particular individual, is represented or intended ...</p>

This was no accident. By breaking it out like this, the Legislature jettisoned the predicate requirement plus (A) or (B) and created three stand alones: (A), (B), or (C).

Thus, taking all things into account—the changes to the text, structure, and punctuation; the overriding goals the Legislature was seeking to achieve; and most importantly the plain language of the statute itself—there is one correct way to interpret the statute: exactly as the City Council (and district court) did. By the statute’s plain language, a controlled substance analog is a substance that has one of the following characteristics: (A) a substantially similar chemical structure as a listed controlled substance, (B) substantially similar chemical effects as a listed controlled substance, or

(C) is represented as having substantially similar chemical effects as a listed controlled substance. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-2(1)(g)(i).

III. The Absurd Results and Constitutional Avoidance Canons Do Not Authorize Judicial Revisions to Unambiguous Statutes.

Significantly, Mike's agrees that the Legislature's intent is precisely what the City Council said it was, which is exactly how the statute reads: disjunctively. (R. 327.) It conceded the point below: "Let it be said at the outset that [Mike's] has never argued that the legislature ever intended anything other than precisely what the City claims it meant. There is no question the legislature intended for the amended UCA § 58-37-2(g) to be read in the disjunctive." (R 327, Pet'r Dist. Ct. Br. at 11.) Seizing on this concession, the district court noted, "[Mike's] actually goes as far as to affirmatively endorse this [disjunctive] interpretation ..." (R. 629; Dist. Ct. Ruling at 6 n.1.)

Still, Mike's argues that the Court must read subsection (A) conjunctively with either subsection (B) or (C). This is so, Mike's contends, based of two seldom-used tools of statutory interpretation: the absurd results and constitutional avoidance canons. (Br. 5.) So even as it concedes the City Council's interpretation was consistent with legislative intent, Mike's argues that the Court is duty bound to save the Legislature from itself and interpret the statute as though the Legislature never touched it in 2012, lest it result in absurdities or suffer an unconstitutional fate. (Br. 11-23.)

That assertion is erroneous for several reasons. First, it rests entirely on federal cases that were decided by ambiguities in the federal statute that are not present in Utah's statute. Second, as a threshold matter, the absurd results and constitutional avoidance

canons do not apply in the absence of ambiguity. And third, the judiciary cannot employ either canon to rewrite statutory text in a manner contrary to legislative intent. To hold otherwise would result in judicial usurpation of the lawmaking authority that only the people's elected representatives may exercise.

A. The federal conjunctive interpretation was based on ambiguous language in the federal statute that is not present in the Utah statute.

The centerpiece of Mike's argument is a pair of federal cases, *United States v. Turcotte*, 405 F.3d 515 (7th Cir. 2005), and *United States v. Hodge*, 321 F.3d 429 (3d Cir. 2003). (Br. 11-12.) The federal courts in both cases interpreted the federal drug analog definition conjunctively. But as the district court aptly explained below, the reasons for the conjunctive reading of the federal statute are based on differences, not similarities in the federal and state statutes. (R. 629-634; Dist. Ct. Ruling at 6-11.)

In both *Turcotte* and *Hodge*, the courts ended at the conjunctive interpretation that Mike's advances here, only after laboring to find the federal drug analog definition ambiguous. *See Turcotte*, 405 F.3d at 521; *Hodge*, 321 F.3d at 436. Both courts concluded that clause (i) in the federal statute could be read as stating an independent requirement, whereas clauses (ii) and (iii) appeared subordinate to (i), because the "functional language in each,"—the term "which"—more naturally referred back to (i) as opposed to the opening clause. *See Hodge*, 321 F.3d at 436; *Turcotte*, 405 F.3d at 522. As best explained in *Hodge*, this "suggests that clauses (ii) and (iii) more likely modify clause (i)'s phrase 'controlled substance in schedule I or II' than the word 'substance' in the main clause." *Hodge*, 321 F.3d at 436. Thus, in both *Turcotte* and *Hodge*, the courts

concluded that the qualifying language “which” at the beginning of clauses (ii) and (iii) of the federal statute resulted in two equally plausible interpretations of a controlled substance analog: one conjunctive, one disjunctive.

Not so in the corresponding provisions in Utah Code section 58-37-2(1)(g)(i). Subsections (B) and (C) in the state statute begin, not with the word “which,” but with the phrase “a substance which.” Utah Code § 58-37-2(1)(g)(i)(B), (C). As the district court explained, this difference “yields a different conclusion.” (R. 633; Dist. Ct. Ruling at 10.) It reinforces the legislative intent evident in the statute’s plain language that, unlike the federal statute, each of the subdivisions in the state statute “is intended to stand on its own rather than modifying subdivision (A).” (R. 633; Dist. Ct. Ruling at 10.) When viewed side-by-side, the differences become apparent:

Utah Code § 58-37-2(1)(g)(i)	28 U.S.C. § 802(32)(A)
<p>“Controlled substance analog” means:</p> <p>(A) <u>a substance</u> the chemical structure of <u>which</u> is substantially similar ...</p> <p>(B) <u>a substance which</u> has a ...; or</p> <p>(C) <u>A substance which</u>, with respect to a particular individual, is represented or intended ...</p>	<p>[T]he term “controlled substance analogue” means <u>a substance</u>--</p> <p>(i) <u>the chemical structure of which</u> is substantially similar ...</p> <p>(ii) <u>which</u> has a stimulant, depressant, or hallucinogenic effect ...; or</p> <p>(iii) with respect to a particular person, <u>which</u> such person represents or intends ...</p>

Unlike the federal analog definition in which two plausible interpretations result from the wording of clause (i) in relation to (ii) and (iii) and the remoteness of (ii) and (iii) from the term “substance” in the opening clause, the wording of each subsection of

Utah's statute begins with "a substance which," and thus all stand alone. The ambiguity in the federal statute made it possible for the courts in *Turcotte* and *Hodge* to employ a conjunctive reading. That same ambiguity is not present in Utah's statute and therefore does not plausibly allow a similar conjunctive reading.

That is not all. The *Hodge* court went further in its analysis to get to a conjunctive reading, relying on Congress's successive use of the term "or" after every subordinate clause when defining another term in the same section of the federal controlled substances law. That resulted in ambiguities not present in the state counterpart. The *Hodge* court explained that in the overall context of the federal drug analog statute, the proposition that "'or' between two words" means they can each stand alone (*i.e.*, are disjunctive) is not always the case because "even within [28 U.S.C.] § 802, Congress did not always consider a single 'or' between the final terms of a series sufficient evidence of disjunctive intent." *Id.* at 436. Rather, when defining a "depressant or stimulant substance" in [§] 802(9), Congress inserted an "or" after *each* clause. *Hodge*, 321 F.3d at 436. Thus, the court reasoned, "where 'or' is absent between clauses (i) and (ii) [in § 802(32)(A),] but present between (ii) and (iii), we do not find conclusive evidence for a disjunctive reading." *Id.*

By comparison, successive use of the term "or" is "conspicuously absent" in defining the same term in the Utah statute. (R. 631; Dist. Ct. Ruling at 8.) Even though Utah statute defines "depressant or stimulant substance" by tracking the language of the federal definition nearly verbatim, it omits the successive use of the term "or" after the provisions corresponding with subdivisions (A) and (B) in the federal definition.

Compare Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-2(1)(l) (LexisNexis 2012) *with* 21 U.S.C. § 802(9) (comparison reproduced at Addendum 4).

These distinctions may seem minor at first glance. But they paved the way for the conjunctive reading in *Turcotte* and *Hodge*. And with all the similarities between the state and federal statutes, these key terms are not among them. So even as Mike’s uses the similarities between the statutes to push its conjunctive interpretation, even suggesting (at 7-9) that Utah may have copied the federal statute, the material differences that Mike’s refuses to acknowledge do not mandate an interpretive departure from the plain language of Utah’s statute. *See, e.g., Jensen v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc.*, 679 P.2d 903, 904 (Utah 1984) (“[W]hen the Legislature adopts a statute from another state, the presumption is that the Legislature is familiar with that state’s judicial interpretations of that statute and intends to adopt them also ...” but that canon “is not applicable where there have been material changes made in the second statute.”).¹²

When we consider these differences in light of established rules of statutory construction, along with the unmistakable differences between the 2011 and 2012 versions of Utah Code section 58-37-2(1)(g)(i), we are left with a single, plausible conclusion: section 58-37-2(1)(g)(i) does not suffer from the same ambiguities as the federal statute. And without the same ambiguity, there is no opportunity to go beyond the plain language under either the absurd results or constitutional avoidance canons. *See*

¹² Utah’s “controlled substances analog” definition contains other differences. For example, Utah’s definition expressly excludes various “dietary supplements, vitamins, minerals, herbs or other similar substances ...” Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-2(g)(ii)(F). The federal statute does not. *See* 28 U.S.C. § 802(32)(C).

Marion Energy, Inc., 2011 UT 50, ¶¶ 25-26 (explaining that absurdity canon is only employed if statute is ambiguous); *Utah Dep't of Transp. v. Carlson*, 2014 UT 24, ¶¶ 24-25, 332 P.3d 900 (explaining that constitutional avoidance canon is only employed if statute is ambiguous).

B. Hypothetical absurd results provide no basis for judicial revisions to unambiguous statutes.

Instead of addressing these differences, Mike's plods down the federal path and asserts that each subsection of 58-37-2(1)(g)(i), standing alone, would lead to absurd results. (Br. 12-19.) This, Mike's proclaims, justifies a judicial rewrite. That argument cannot stand.

For starters, as just explained, the canon is only employed after statutory language proves ambiguous because it yields two plausible interpretations. *See Marion Energy, Inc.*, 2011 UT 50, ¶¶ 25-26. In that circumstance, the court opts for the alternative that avoids the absurd results. *See id.* ¶ 26. This is so, because when given two plausible readings of statutory text, the court assumes the legislature could not have intended the one resulting in an absurdity. *See id.*

As explained at length above, there is no ambiguity in section 58-37-2(1)(g)(i). And there is no indication that the Legislature did not intend each subsection to stand on its own. In fact, as Mike's concedes, the opposite is true. Indeed, the statutory amendments at issue were adopted in 2012, after federal courts like *Turcotte* and *Hodge* had grappled with the conjunctive/disjunctive interpretation of the federal analog definition. If anything, the Legislature ensured that the terminology which created the

ambiguities in the federal analog statute did not make it into Utah's version, thereby removing any doubt.

The canon to interpret statutes in order to avoid absurd results does not allow the judiciary to wield a legislative pen to rewrite an unambiguous statute in a manner that is contrary to Legislative intent. Nor does it give the judiciary a veto power over statutory amendments through force of interpretation. That is the result Mike's seeks, as it would effectively roll the statute back to its pre-amendment form, as if the Legislature never touched it in 2012. The request goes too far. The judiciary does not determine "what the law ought to be." *Hanchett v. Burbidge*, 202 P. 377, 380 (Utah 1921). The judiciary is "guided by the law as it is." *Id.* It therefore "cannot by construction liberalize the statute and enlarge its provisions. When language is clear and unambiguous, it must be held to mean what it expresses, and no room is left for construction." *Id.*¹³

C. The constitutional avoidance canon is not a license to rewrite legislation.

The same is true with the second canon Mike's invokes, the canon of constitutional avoidance. Again, our supreme court has explained that, "for the constitutional avoidance canon to even apply, 'the statute must be genuinely susceptible to two constructions'—a determination that is made 'after, and not before, its complexities are unraveled.'" *Utah Dep't of Transp. v. Carlson*, 2014 UT 24, ¶¶ 24-25,

¹³ Any question about whether the Legislature imagined the absurd results that could follow is answered by the scienter requirement in section 58-37-8(1). See *infra* Point IV.A at 33.

332 P.3d 900 (quoting *Almendarez-Torres v. United States*, 523 U.S. 224, 238 (1998)).

As explained above, it is not.

What’s more, “the avoidance canon is not a license to rewrite statutes. It is a tool for interpreting them.” *Orlando Millenia, LC v. United Title Servs. of Utah, Inc.*, 2015 UT 55, ¶ 84, 355 P.3d 965. So even though, as a general proposition, courts should “whenever possible, construe a statute so as to save it from constitutional infirmities,” there are limitations on its right to do so. *I.M.L. v. State*, 2002 UT 110, ¶ 25, 61 P.3d 1038. The primary limitation is the rules of statutory interpretation. *See id.* (explaining that even on constitutional questions courts are “limited” in construing statutes “by reasonable canons of statutory construction”). When interpreting the constitutionality of statutes, ““we will not “infer substantive terms into the text that are not already there. Rather, the interpretation must be based on the language used, and [we have] no power to rewrite the statute to conform to an intention not expressed.”” *Id.* (quoting *Assoc. Gen. Contrs. v. Bd. of Oil, Gas & Mining*, 2001 UT 112, ¶ 30, 38 P.3d 291) (quoting *Berrett v. Purser & Edwards*, 876 P.2d 367, 370 (Utah 1994)). In other words, even when courts endeavor to construe a statute to avoid unconstitutionality, they must do so consistent with established rules of statutory interpretation. *See State v. Morrison*, 2001 UT 73, ¶ 12, 31 P.3d 547 (reasoning that statute was not unconstitutionally overbroad after applying required “principles of statutory construction”).

Mike’s concedes that it seeks an interpretation of section 58-37-2(1)(g)(i) that is at odds with its plain language and the legislative intent. Still, it asks this Court to insert a qualifier—to supply the missing “and” after subsection (A) in order to avoid

“constitutional challenges.” That is not something the courts can do. “[T]he mere existence of such questions does not give us license to add a qualifier or limitation not evident on the face of the statute.” *Orlando Millenia, LC*, 2015 UT 55, ¶ 84. Indeed, “the Due Process Clause is not a license for judicial second-guessing of legislative policy judgments.” *Id.* ¶ 85. To hold otherwise would constitute a usurpation of legislative power.

* * *

The touchstone for statutory interpretation is legislative intent. *Savage v. Utah Youth Vill.*, 2004 UT 102, ¶ 18, 104 P.3d 1242. That intent is evident in section 58-37-2(1)(g)(i)’s plain language; confirmed by its legislative history; and suffers no ambiguity allowing a contrary interpretation.

IV. The Facts Establish that Mike’s Knowingly and Intentionally Violated Utah’s Controlled Substance Laws.

A. The scienter requirement prevents absurdities and limits governmental overreach.

To be sure, Mike’s has imagined (at 12-17) some remote and entirely unintended consequences of applying the three subsections as the Legislature wrote them. The court in *United States v. Vickery*, 199 F. Supp. 2d 1363 (N.D. Ga. 2002), pointed out the potential absurdities that could result if each federal subsection is read alone without the predicate qualifier in the first federal subsection. *See id.* at 1369. Imagine a drug task force raiding the corner market and bagging energy drinks and Doritos as evidence while hauling the unsuspecting shopkeeper down to the station to book on drug charges. But

we can only imagine, because we are not aware of any case in Utah where this has happened, and certainly not in the four years since the Legislature amended the statute.

Moreover, Mike's is not the unsuspecting storekeeper. It seeks to have the Court interpret a statutory definition in the abstract, without reference to its own conduct. But no matter how many scenarios it spins to demonstrate the supposed absurdity of reading each subsection by itself, this case is about the facts. Uncontested facts. And those facts close the gap between any "absurdity" or "constitutional issues" between the controlled substance analog definition and the reason the City revoked Mike's business license: There was substantial evidence to show that Mike's knowingly and intentionally possessed a controlled substance with the intent to distribute in violation of Utah law. *See Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1)* (LexisNexis 2012). That finding was confirmed when Best pleaded no contest to the underlying criminal charges.

The controlled substance analog definition criminalizes nothing. It is definitional, and merely brings certain analogs within the definition of "controlled substances." Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-2(f)(i)(C). The definition has little meaning without reference to the knowing and intentional requirement found in Utah Code section 58-37-8(1). *See Utah Code Ann. § 58-37-8(1)* (LexisNexis 2012). This analysis is reflected in the recent case *McFadden v. United States*, 135 S. Ct. 2298 (2015), wherein the United States Supreme Court addressed the mental state required to prove a defendant knowingly manufactured, possessed, or distributed a controlled substance analog. *See id.* at 2305. It held that "the Government must prove that a defendant knew that the substance with which he was dealing was 'a controlled substance,' even in prosecutions involving an analogue." *Id.*

This knowledge can be established with evidence showing the defendant (1) knew he was dealing with a controlled substance even if he didn't know its particular identity; or (2) establishing that the defendant knew that he was dealing with a specific analogue by showing that he has knowledge that the substance possesses any of the features in the controlled substance analog definition. *See id.*¹⁴

Importantly here, in response to the defendant's "constitutional avoidance" argument, the Court explained that "[u]nder our precedents, a scienter requirement in a statute 'alleviate[s] vagueness concerns,' 'narrow[s] the scope of the [its] prohibition[,] and limit[s] prosecutorial discretion.'" *Id.* at 2307 (quoting *Gonzales v. Carhart*, 550 U.S. 124, 149, 150 (2007)) (alterations original).¹⁵ The scienter requirement in section 58-37-8(1) limits its application to those who "knowingly and intentionally" possess and distribute a controlled substance. It protects the class of unsuspecting people that Mike's attempts to hide behind in an effort to cover its criminal enterprise. The scienter requirement ensures an individual understands the facts which fit the elements of the prohibited conduct. *See Morissette v. United States*, 342 U.S. 246, 251-52 (1952)

¹⁴ In *McFadden*, the Court noted that it was not addressing the conjunctive/disjunctive debate surrounding 28 U.S.C. § 802(32)(A), because the government had simply assumed that it was conjunctive. *See McFadden*, 135 S. Ct. at 2305 n.3. The question, so far as the federal statute is concerned, thus remains unresolved. *Id.*

¹⁵ Chief Justice Roberts put it more bluntly in concurrence, stating that where the statute expressly includes a "knowing" requirement as part of the offense, "a person's lack of knowledge regarding the legal element can be a defense." *McFadden*, 135 S. Ct. at 2308 (Roberts, C.J., concurring).

(explaining that the scienter requirement causes a convergence of an “evil-meaning mind with an evil-doing hand”).

B. When facts are applied, any potential constitutional infirmities disappear.

The facts place still another barrier in front Mike’s. Though it presents this appeal as an issue of pure statutory interpretation, professing that it is not really a vagueness challenge to the constitutionality of the statute,¹⁶ Mike’s is trying to achieve the same result without having to clear the same constitutional hurdles. It asks this Court to rewrite legislation to avoid hypothetical constitutional concerns, because it knows that it cannot meet a vagueness challenge head on. Though it urges the Court to read the statute conjunctively in order to avoid “valid constitutional challenges” (Br. 5), it refuses to follow through on its own challenge, even as it relies on cases that were vagueness challenges. *See U.S. v. Washam*, 312 F.3d 926 (8th Cir. 2002) (addressing vagueness challenge); *U.S. v. Roberts*, 2002 WL 31014834 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 9, 2002) (addressing vagueness challenge), *vacated*, 363 F.3d 118 (2d Cir. 2004).

But a party challenging the constitutionality of a statute cannot brush off the facts as applied to its conduct; it must confront them head on. *See State v. Ansari*, 2004 UT App 326, ¶ 27, 100 P.3d 231 (explaining that a party lacks standing to challenge a statute on vagueness grounds if statute is not vague as as-applied to that party). It must prove

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